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METROGUIDE.COM, INC., (}AiSEH 2
a Florida corporation, AF]

Plaintiff, _
Vs. CW - SEETZ

HOTEL RESERVATIONS NETWORK,
INC., a Delaware corporation d/b/a
HOTELS.COM; and ROBERT DIENER,
individually,

' MAGISTRAT
Defendants. / | B AND STRAE

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, MetroGuide.com, Tnc. f’k/a RealMetros.com, Inc. (“MetroGuide™), by and
through its uﬁdersigned attorneys, sues Defendants, Hotel Reservations Network, Inc. d/b/a
Hotels.com (“HRN™) and Robert biener (“Diener”) (collectively, HRN and Diener may be
referred to as “Defendants™), and alleges:

Nature of Action, Subject Maﬁer Jurisdiction and Venue

1. This is a civil action for (a) copyright infringement under the Copyright Act of the
United States, 17 U.S.C. §§ 101 ef seg.; (b) unfair competition and false designation of origin
under the Lanham Act of the United States, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq.; and (c) common law
unfair competition arising under the laws of the State of Florida. ‘ N

2. Subject matter jurisdiction over this action is conferred upon this Court by 28

U.S.C. § 1338. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over MetroGuide’s state-law claims

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 in that the state law claims are integrally related to the federal




claims and arise from a common nucleus of operative fact such that the administration of sﬁch
claims herein is in the interests of judicial economy.

3. MetroGuide is a Florida corporation with its principal place of business in
Hollywood, Florida. MetroGuide was formerly known as RealMetros.com, Inc.

4. HRN is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business located at
8140 Walnut Hill Lane, Suite 800, Dallas, Texas. HRN also has an office in Miami, Florida.

5. Diener is an individual who resides in Miami, Florida. At all relevant times to
this action, Diener was an officer, member, and/or principal of HRN. Upon information and
belief, Diener personally participated in or had the ability and right to supervise, direct, and

| control the tortious acts committed by HRN, thereby rendering him personally liable for the acts
complained of herein.

6. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and 1400(a)
because (a) Defendant HRN maintains a place of business within this District; (b) the claims

alleged in this action arose in this District; and (c) Defendant Diener resides in this District.

General Allegations
7. MetroGuide is an online publisher of hotel and travel information.
8. The Internet is a global network of millions of interconnected computers. Over

the past decade, the Internet has become an invaluable tool for busineﬁsses to communicate and
‘ N N

conduct transactions with their customers. :

9. Although the Internet supports a variety of communications, by far the best

known and most widely used aspect of Internet communication is the “World Wide Web” (the

“Web”). Using widely adopted computer protocols, the Web allows individuals using software
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called a “browser” (e.g., Microsoft Explorer or i\Tetscape Navigator) to receive text, images,
audio and video from “web sites” located on special computers connected to the Internet called
SErvers.

10.  Internet web sites are generally created utilizing a language or code called hyper-
text markup language (“HTML”).

11.  While the Internet itself utilizes a numbering scheme to address each and every
computer connected to the Internet, this numbering system is not terribly convenient for most |
people to use. In order to make the Web more user-friendly, most--if not all--web sites utilize
domain names so that a user can type in an address of .“hotelggide.net” rather than
“192.250.226.1.7 ‘Domain names themselves are often broken down into segments. For

instance, “miami.hotelguide.net” is actually comprised of three domain name segments. . The

“net” referred to as a top-level domain name; the “hotelgnide.” portion is called a second-level
domain name; and the “miami.” portion is called a third-level domain name. In order to find a
web site on the Internet, a computer user must type in at least the second-level and top-level
domain names and bring up the web site at the corresponding numeric address. If, however, the
customer is familiar with a particular web site, the customer may enter all three domain name
segments in order for the browser to bring up that particular web page immediately.

12.  Tn or about 1995, MetroGuide began to publish on the Iglternet a nationwide hotel
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listing service, “The HotelGuide Networksm” which provides h\gtel information specific to

particular metropolitan areas. At that time, The HotelGuide Network®™ contained listings for the

metropolitan areas of Miami and Fort Landerdale.




13. Since then, MetroGuide has continued to expand the number of metropolitan
areas for which it publishes hotel and other travel-related content. In approximately 1957,
MetroGuide expanded its website’s functionality to allow Internet browsers to make hotel
reservations on-line.

14.  Presently, The HotelGuide Network™ provides hotel listings for over 170 cities in
North America, Europe, Africa, the Middle East, Asia and South and Central America. The
HotelGuide Network™ has consistently ranked among the most popular hotel content and
reservation websites on the Internet. The homepage for The HotelGuide Networ. *™ is found on

the Internet at www.hotelguide.net, and appears as follows:

Guade

.network

lo | Hot [ieais | About

Find Hotels
By Region:

- North America
- Caribbean

: - Asia/Pacific
Africa

- Europe

Find Hotels Using Qur Site Search:

{For example: try "South Beach Hotel")

Ngwslettur
Welcome to the HotelGuide Netwark, brought to you by MetroBuide.com| — Stanue .
Type inyolr Email
address
To use our HotelGuide-brand directeries 5|rnp]y seroll down to the below snd recsive

geographic area that interests you Many of the reglons shown beWow heve Ihehes




From this homepage, the entire directory of MetroGuide’s botel listings worldwide may be
accessed. In addition to its worldwide hotel listing service, MetroGuide provides other travel
information through its EventGuide™, NightGuide™, RefailGuide™, DiningGuide®™, and
MetroGuide services (the “MetroGuide Website(s)”).

15.  For each of the over 170 metropolitan areas for which MetroGuide publishes hotel
listings, MetroGuide has created a web page that focuses on fchat particular metropolitan area (a
“Metro Page;’). Each Metro Page provides an introductory paragraph welcoming the customer to

the site for that area and then subdivides the metropolitan area into regional locations. For

example, the Miami Metro Page, located at www.Miami.hotelguide.net, subdivides the Miami

area into the following regional locations: Miami Beach, South Beach, Airport, Downtown,
Coral Gables, Coconut Grove, North Dade and South Dade. Each Metro Page also includes a
description of each location. The regional locations are presented in a two-column format, with
each location underlined and in slightly larger text than the accompanying description of the
Jocation. For each location, a one or two sentence description is provided to familiarize the
customer with that region and thereby assist in the search for and selection of a convenient hotel..
Customers are informed that they can begin searching for lodging options by selecting one or
more of the locations. The customer has the option of clicking on any of the specified locations,
prompting the appearance of a more detailed web page focusing exclugively on that location (the
%

“Tocation Page”). .

16.  Once a specific location is selected, the responsive Location Page provides: (1) an

introductory paragraph welcoming the customer to the page for the hotel listings for that

particular geographic area and explaining that detailed information about one or more of the




listed hotels is available by selecting it; and (2) a two-column list of hotels for the area, the
names of which are in bold type and underlined, immediately followed by the address, phone
number, number of rooms in the specific hotel, and certain miscellaneous information.

17.  The copyright in The HotelGuide Network website (“The HotelGuide Network
Website”) was registered with the United States Copyright Office in compliance with the
Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq. Copies of the Copyright Registration Certificates,
bearing Registration Nos. TX 5-392-748, TX 5;392-749, TX 5-392-750, and TX 5-407-052, are
attached hereto as Composite Exhibit “1” (the “MetroGuide Copyrights”). The HotelGuide
Network Website has displayed a copyright notice since 1996.

18.  MetroGuide has expended tremendous resources to make The HotelGuide
Network™ the overwhelming success it is today. Since its inception in 1995, The HotelGuide
Network’™ has been visited hundreds of millions of times by customers and potential customers.
In the last year alone, the MetroGuide Websites received ai)proximately 30 million page views,
an average of more than 82,000 visits per day. By providing high-quality and easy to use
content, coupled with an easy-to-use organizational structure, customers can quickly obtain
travel and hotel-related information. The faster a potential customer can obtain this information,
the more likely it is a customer will make ﬁotel reservations throngh The HotelGuide Network™
and the more likely it is the customer will return to The HotelGélide N(:twor M to make
reservations in the future. A ‘

19.  MetroGuide ilas extensively ma;keted and advertised the “HotelGuide” name and
web site and has generated significant goodwill among consumers, and has built a strong

following of repeat customer business. Much of MetroGuide’s success can be attributed to the




public’s association of the “HotelGuide” name with a ser\_zic;e that consistently provides high-
quality information, makes it easy for customers and potential customers to locate hotel-related
information, and allows customers and potential customers to quickly and conveniently make
hotel reservations.

MetrbGuide’s Relationship With HRN

20.  HRN is a provider of discount hotel rooms and other lodging accommodations.
HRN allows customers to book hotel rooms through HRN’s on-line reservation service and toll-
free call centers.

21.  MetroGuide’s relationship with HRN dates back to April 1998, when HRN sought
to advertise its services through The HotelGuide Network Website.

22, Over time, MetroGuide’s relationship with HRN developed to the point where
MetroGuide agreed to operate as an HRN Affiliate. As an HRN Affiliate, MetroGuide, using
The i{otelGuide Network Website, agreed to provide links to HRN’s co-branded hotel
reservation system. Utilizing this system, MetroGuide customers would be able to make
reservations utilizing HRN’s hotel reservation system through The HotelGuide Network™ web
pages in order to make it appear as if the customer had never left The HotelGuide Network. Asa
result, MetroGuide’s customers are supposed to be given the impression that they have made a
reservation through The HotelGuide Network rather than HRN or any qf HRN’s websites.

23.  MetroGuide’s position as an HRN Affiliate was f\gimalized in January, 2000,
when MetroGuide entered into an agreement with HRN.

24.  HRN historically had operated its own website on the internet but relied on its

affiliates to drive traffic to its site and booking engine. Beginning in approximately March 2002,




HRN engaged signi'ﬁcant marketing resources to begin selling hotel room reservations using the
domain name Hotels.com, which it had since acquired. In doing so, Hotels.com began
competing intensely with its own affiliates, vying for ﬂle same customers. Indeed, each time a
MetroGuide customer made a reservation directly through the HRN websites and not througil ‘
The HotelGuide Network™, HRN did not have to pay MetroGuide a commission in connection
with the reservation. MetroGuide only received a commission when a customer utilized The
HotelGuide Network®™ website to access the HRN hotel reservation system. |

25.  Thus, both MetroGuide and HRN now compete for the same initial and repeat
customers over the Internet.

26.  HRN has also actively attempted to prevent potential customers from finding The
HotelGuide Network Website. At one point, HRN paid to advertise dummy websites controlled
by it in a fee-based Internet search engine called Overture.com solely for the purpose of having
" other websites ranked higher than The HotelGuide Network Website. Shortly thereafter, HRN
employees signed up as “volunteer editors” for an Internet search engine called the Open
Directory Project. Once HRN employees became voluntecr editofs, they proceeded to delete
The HotelGuide Network Website from that particular search engine.

97 Each time MetroGuide discovered what HRN had done to unfairly compete with
MetroGuide, HRN would apologize and indicate that it would ceage the offending conduct.

%
However, it was only a matter of time before HRN discovered \gfet another way to unfairly

compete with MetroGuide.

HRN Encouraged HRN Affiliates To Infringe The MetroGuide Copyrights




28.  An additional way to atfract potential customers is to provide high quality content
via an easy-to-use interface. MetroGuide’s reputation for providing high quality content
consistently cansed The HotelGuide Network Website to attract a large number of customers and
acquire a prominent search engine placement.

29.  Upon information and belief, Diener and HRN actively encouraged other HRN
Affiliates to use MetroGuide’s copyrighted content .from The HotelGuide Network Website.
HRN did this because of the financial benefit to HRN in that other affiliates would acquire
greater internet traffic and search engine placement and, in addition, may not receive the same
level commission as that paid to MetroGuide. By stealing content from The HotelGuide
Network Website, and the MetroGuide Network Websites in general, other HRN Affiliates could
provide high quality content to attract potential customers, and perhaps even do so at a Jower
cost to HRN. In addition, by stealing corfcent from The HotelGuide Network Websites, HRN
Affiliates sought to avoid having to incur the expense and time necessary to develop a website to
compete with The HotelGuide Network Website.

30. One example of HRN actively encouraging an HRN Affiliate to infringe the
MetroGuide Copyrights involves e-Business Holdings Corp. (“e-Business”), which stole
approximately 10,000 pages of content from The HotelGuide Network Website. Despite e-
Business’ wholesale copying of MetroGuide’s copyrighted material, I;IRN offered e-Business a
preferential commission rate, thereby rewarding e-Business for giealing c:pyrighted content
from The HotelGuide Network Website. Moreover, HRN and Diener were well aware that the
owners of e-Business were former MetroGuide employees with access to MetroGuide’s

copyrighted material. Even after HRN learned of MetroGuide’s lawsuit against e-Business,




HRN and Diener allowed e-Business to c(;ntinue operating as an HRN Affiliate utilizing
infringing copyrighted material.

31.  The situation with e-Business is not unique. In fact, MetroGuide has brought
several actions against HRN Affiliates for, inter alia, infriingement of the MetroGuide
Copyrights. MetroGuide currently has two separate actions pending in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Florida against HRN Affiliates seeking injunctive relief and
damages for, inter alia, the HRN Affiliates’ willful infringement of the MetroGuide Copyrights.
Moreover, MetroGuide recently informed HRN that an affiliate it has previously sued continued
to publish wébpages that contained infringing content.

.32. In each case, and even after HRN is made aware of its Affiliates infringing
conduct, HRN does nothing to prevent or punish its Affiliates for infringing the MetroGuide
Copyrights. Instead, HRN allows these HRN Affiliates to continue operating because ultimately,
HRN profits when HRN Affiliates attract customers who make hotel reservations, even it those
affiliates are attracting customers using infringing materials.

HRN’s Utilization of Predatory Advertising To Unfairly Compete With MetroGuide

33,  In addition to encouraging, contributing and inducing HRN Affiliates to infringe
the MetroGuide Copyrights, HRN itself has utilized predatory advertisiﬁg to unfairly compete
directly with MetroGuide. ; .

34, In the instant case, the predatory advertising invgives, inter alia, the use of
computer software commonly called spyware or scumware. A computer user loads computer
goftware ostensibly for performing a particular task, e.g., storing passwords. In addition to

installing the computer software necessary fo operate a given application, e.g., to store
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passwords, spyware also loads programs onto 2 user’s computer thaf are essential to the
predatory advertising. The spyware then sits undetected on a user’s computer until the user
opens a web browser. When the computer user begins browsing the Internet, the spyware
becémes active and opens up windows on top of the web browser containing advertising for
competing services. Free software from The Gator Corporation (“Gator”), including programs
called “eWallet,” “Date Manager” and “Precision Time,” are examples of computer software
essential to predatory advertising. In part, the essential software is called spyware because
consumers are misled into believing that they are only installing some useful application, and
generally without consumers’ knowledge, the spyware components are also instaﬂed.

35.  Through the use of predatory advertising, a company can target its advertising so
that it only appears when a potential consumer looks at the company’s competitors’ websites.
For e_:xample, through predatory advertising a company like American Airlines could direct that
its “pop-up” advertisements appear on a potential customer’s computer -whenever that potential
consumer opens 2 web browser and looks for airline tickets at the United or Delta Airlines
websites.

36.  In this case, HRN contracted with Gator or the Gator Advertising and Information
Network to engage in predatory advertising of The HotelGuide Network Website. As a result,
whenever a ﬁotential customer who had been tricked into installing Ggtor’s software visited The

®
HotelGuide Network Website, the spyware could open and d;gplay a window containing
advertising for HRN’s HotelDiscount.com website over The HotelGuide Network Website.

Unlike other forms of advertising that do not obscure the basic website, the predatory advertising
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covers and obscures a portion of the underlying website. In this case, HRN’s predatory

advertising appeared as follows:

7% Miami Hotels - Find Miami Hotels Online - Microsoft interpet Exp =]
| Fle Edk . View. Fav LA

|
j Address
i Gurgle

) save70%

on your favorite hotel stays.

Book online or call 800-2-hotels
and save up to 70% off hotel reoms.

=« Click here and save now!

Balmy, sub-trapical Miami beckons visitors as a cosmopalitan
mecca of cultures from all over the world, with a decidediy Latin
allurel A myriad of entertainment and cultural gxerits abound irorh
which 1o choose, along with some of the best shagping and giring in

This example clearly demonstrates how the predatory advertising for HRN’s hoteldiscount.com
site appears in a pop-up window over the MetroGuide web page, miami.hotelgnide.net, being
displayed in the web browser. Another example demonstrates éHZRN’s use of predatory

o o , N ¥
adversiting in connection with MetroGuide’s orlando.hotelguide.net web page:
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2 Ho‘!‘elﬁmde

network

tel listings for the Greater

In addition, with its

d weather, the area also
reational actiity imaginable,

, sporting gvents, and is only” i
aches.

Juta is best knawn for it
[lTJisnay World and Universal

ndo has divided the Greater Orlando area into several

"Larch of the Graater Orlando area by choosing from ihe

4 ed in visiting Florida beaches sfter your visit to Otlando,

g iionz Basch HotelGuide and the Epace Cogrl Hol 2 Guide, -

ocation:

Vet another instance of this misconduct is shown below where HRN used predatory adversiting

in connection with MetroGuide’s miami.hotelguide.net web page to-promote its website

Hotels.comt:
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| tﬁHoteflGEiide s adami

Online-Res'ervatf‘ﬁns o S i Call {809) 695-8284

Ths bast prices uH-na best plocm Guoran!eet‘.i

‘ - Save.y P {6
¥ of Nights: )

% of Childlren: [E

Far guestions.orto make 2 resewatmn .
call ustollfree a1 71 -800-695.-8284 .
Far Inigtnational Calls 1o the U8, dialat B17-738-2824 .

Copytlght 2081, Hotel Dissounts. Hofel Fegervulio ns Hebnod, Al hghis 1essnved,

Enter ke win $1D 90...

Through the use pop-up windows such as these, HRN has altered the appearance of the
MetroGuide web pages to make it appear that the advertisement is in some way affiliated with or

sponsored by MetroGuide. ;
%

37.  Upon discovering that HRN was utilizing preda:fery advertising to unfairly
compete with MetroGuide, MetroGuide demanded that HRN immediate cease and desist use of
such advertising. Upon information and belief, HRN has since ceased targeting The HotelGuide
Network Website with predatory advertising, yet MetroGuide has etill suffered damage as a

result of HRN’s actions.
14




38.  Indeed, HRN is aware of the unfair nature of such predatory. adveﬁising, and,
even seeks to prohibit its own HRN Affiliates from using such predatory advertising. The
standard Website Linking and License Agreement that HRN, through its subsidiary

TravelNow.com, uses to sign up affiliates provides:

13. Predatory Advertising

Affiliate agrees not to use any predatory advertising methods designed to generate traffic
from sites they have not contracted within the online promotion of the Affiliate’s products,
services or affiliate program and agreecs to prohibit their websites from such predatory
advertising methods.

Predatory advertising is defined as any method that creates or overlays links or banners
on web sites, spawns browser windows, or any method invented to generate traffic from a web
site without that web site owner’s, knowledge, permission, and participation.

Examples include, but are not limited to, keyword parsing browser plugins such as
TopText and +Surf, banner replacement technology such as Gator, browser spawning technology
that is not web site dependent.”

Despite being aware of predatory advertising and seeking to avoid others’ use of such
unscrupulous advertising tactics, HRN has improperly .utilized said predatory advertising to
unfairly compete with MetroGuide.
HRN’s Utilization of Link Farms To Unfairly Compete With MetroGuide
39.  One of the most common ways that customers fmcil web sites such as The
) +

L,
HotelGuide Network Websites is through the use of Internet search engines such as Google™

(www.google.com). Internet search engines such as Google™ maintain indexes of web pages

based on the text contained on the web pages as well as other factors that are not publicly

disclosed. It is readily apparent, however, that search engines periodically review the web sites
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listed in their database, and upon confirmation that a web site contains useful content, the web
site achieves a higher ranking. When a potential customer performs a search on Google™, it
returns a list of websites that Google™ deems relevant to the provided séarch criteria. Where a
website appears on the resulting list is commonly called a “rank™ or “page rank.” The higher a
websites’ rank, the more likely it is a potential cuétomer will visit that website.

40. The HotelGuide Network Website, containing information about particular
metropolitan, regional and location areas, have traditionally been ranked very high because of
the amount of high-quality content that MetroGuide provides. For example, running 2 search on
Google™ for the keywords “hotels miami beach” returns a list of results with The HotelGuide
Network Website for Miami appeaﬁng fourth out of apﬁroximately 804,000 web sites that
Google™ determined to be responsive to the search. |

41.  One way to improve the ranking of a particular web site is to link to other, highly
ranked web sites. The search engines presume that if a web site links to another web site that has
been confirmed to contain popular high quality content, then the linking site must be related in
some way. In this case, The HotelGuide Network Website has been confirmed to contain
popular high quality content. Another unrelated web site, such as an HRN website, can improve
its search engine ranking by linking to The HotelGuide Network Website.

42. However, if HRN were to include a link to The HotelGuide Ne;cwork Website on
one of its websites, HRN might actually refer potential customers \‘Eo The HotelGuide Network.
In order to avoid sending MetroGuide customers, but still link to The HotelGuide Network
Website and still take advantage of MetroGuide’s popular high quality content, HRN began

using what is commonly called a “link farm.” A link farm is a web page containing a list of
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hyperlinks to other web sites. The link farm web page is typically hidden away in an obscure
location so as to make it unlikely that a potential customer would find the link farm; since search
engines scan web pages through an automated process, the search engines can still find the link
farm and re-rank the web pages based on the association.

43, When MetroGuide first discovered that HRN was using a link farm, and included
a hyperlink to The HotelGuide Network Website in the link farm, MetroGuide notified Diener
and HRN and demanded that HRN eliminate The HotelGuide Network Website from the link
farm. Notwithstanding HRN promise to remove the hotelguide.net link from the link farm, the

link continued to persist, requiring MetroGuide to make repeated demands that the link be

removed. The link farm, linking to hotelguide.net as its first link, appeared as follows:

[Eirtpijicondosaver.comptmiftravelivks.bbed e BT

www.hotelguide.net/

www. 1001hotels.com/

www. 123hotels.net/

wiww. 18009 6hotel. com/

www. 180096hotel.net/

www. 1800airfare,com/

www. 1hotel.com/
www.4hbotelrates.com/

www.hotel -reservations-discount.net
www.hotel-reservations-discounts.net
www.hotels-discomnt-rates.net § “

hﬁg:}'ﬁww.nev__vgorkhotelsandgg;ide.com!
| hitp://www.lasvegashotelsandguide. com/

hitp://www.chica gohotelsandgnide.com/
htip://wwww. hotel-reservations-discount. net/
www.4hotelrates.net
www.traveleader.com

bﬂp:/fwww.miamihotelg;ide.net/
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Although the damage had already been done—HRN was able to improve its search engine
ranking because the search engines had already reviewed the link farm--HRN eliminated the
hyperlink to The HotelGuide Network Website.

44,  Despite MetroGuide’s demands that HRN stop including The HotelGuide
Network Website in HRN’s link farm, MetroGuide discovered that HRN was operating other
link farms. Upon information and belief, HRN continues utilizing link farms, and rﬁay continue
including The HotelGuide Network Website in a link farm.

45. HRN’s use of and inclusion of The HotelGuide Network Website in HRNs link
farm allows HRN to trade on the goodwill associated with The HotelGuide Network Website
without having to develop its own goodwill. By using link farms in this matter, HRN has
attempted to mislead the Internet search engines and potential customers into beliéving that
HRN’s websites are the same as The HotelGuide Network Website, or is.in some way affiliated
with The HotelGuide Network Website.

COUNT 1
Copyright Infringement Under Federal Law, 17 U.S.C. § 501
Liability Of HRN And Diener For Encouraging HRN Affiliates
To Infringe The MetroGuide Copyrights
(All Defendants)

46.  MetroGuide repeats paragraphs 1 through 45 in support of this count.

47. This cause of action arises under Section 501 of Titlg: 17 of the United States

]

4
\, ‘
Code.

48.  MetroGuide owns a valid copyright in and to The HotelGuide Network Website
and the content therein, and has obtained copyright registrations for The HotelGuide Network

Website from the United States Copyright Office.
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49.

HRN and Diener have contributed to and induced the infringement of the |

MetroGuide Copyrights in violation of MetroGuide’s exclusive rights as set forth in Section 106

of Title 17 of the United States Code. Specifically, HRN and Diener bave contributed to and

induced the violation of MetroGuide’s exclusive copyrights by:

50.

(a) actively encouraging HRN Affiliates to. prepare
unauthorized derivative works based upon The HotelGuide
Network Website; and

(b) actively encouraging HRN = Affiliates to display

MetroGulde s copyrighted content without authorization.

_ Addltlonally, HRN and Diener are liable for infringement of the MetroGuide

Copyrights in violation of MetroGuide’s exclusive rights as set forth in Section 106 of Title 17 of

~ the United States Code in that HRN and Diener:

51.

(2) had, and have, an ability to prevent HRN Affiliates from
infringing the MetroGuide Copyrights; and

(b)  profited, and continue to profit, from the HRN Affiliates®

“infringing activity.

In both cases, HRN benefited as a result of the HRN Affiliates’ copying and

transformation of The HotelGuide Network Websites in violation of the exclusive rights that

MetroGuide has in the MetroGuide Copyrights.

52.

i

. k3

By actively encouraging HRN Affiliates to infringe the MetroGuide Copyrights,

HRN and Diener have willfully contributed to and induced the infringement of the MetroGuide

Copyrights.
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53. HRN’s and Diener’s activities have caused MetroGuide to sustain monetary
damage, loss, and injury, in an amount to be determined at trial. MetroGuide is entitled to
recover its actual damages and HRN’s and Dgiener’s profits relating to the infringement;
alternatively, MetroGuide is entitled to statutory damages.

54.  HRN’s and Diener’s unlawful activities have caused, and unless enjoined by this
Court will continue to cause, irreparable damage, loss and injury to MetroGuide for which it has

no adequate remedy at law.

COUNT II .
Copyright Infringement Under Federal Law, 17 U.S.C. § 501
Liability Of Defendants For Direct Infringement
Of The MetroGuide Copyrights
(All Defendants)

55.  MetroGuide repeats paragraphs 1 through 45 in support of this count.

56.  This cause of action arises under Section 501 of Title 17 of the United States
Code.

57.  MetroGuide owns a valid copyright in and to The HotelGuide Network Website
and the content therein, and has obtained copyright regisirations for The HotelGuide Network
Website from the United States Copyright Office. i )

\ .

58.  Defendants have infringed the MetroGuide Copyrights by displaying The

HotelGuide Network Website together with its predatory advertising. Through the use of

predatory advertising that caused an additional window with HRIN’s content to appear over The
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HotelGuide Network Website, Defendants were able to recast and transform MetroGuide’s
copyrighted material.

50.  Defendants’ activities have caused MetroGuide to sustain monetary damage, loss,
and injury, in an amount to be determined at trial. MetroGuide is entitled to recover its actual
damages and Defendants’ profits relating to the infringement; alternatively, MetroGuide is
entitled to statutory damages.

60.  Diener is individually and personally liable for Defendants’ infringement of the
MetroGuide Copyrights because Diener had the ability and right to supervise, direct, and control
Defendailts’ tortious actions.

61. Defendants’ unlawful activities have caused, and unless enjoined by this Court
will continue to cause, iﬁeparable damage, loss and injury tﬁ MetroGuide for which it has no
adequate remedy at law.

COUNT III
False Designation of Origin and Unfair Competition
, Under Federal Law, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)
Liability Of Defendants For Utilizing Predatory Advertising
(All Defendants)

62.  MetroGuide répeats paragraphs 1 through 45 in support of this count.

63.  This cause of action arises under Section 1125 of Title 15 of the United States
Code. ﬁ

64.  Defendants’ use of predatory advertising creates a\“"lik'elihood% that a false and
unfair association will be made between the HRN pop-up advertisements and MetroGuide, in

that the consuming public is likely to believe that HRN and/or the services offered by HRN are

connected with, affiliated with, authorized by, sponsored by or approved by MetroGuide.
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65. Defendants’ use of predatory advertising constitutes unfair competition because
Defendants have used MetroGuide’s reputation and goodwill to offer HRN’s services which are
not sponsored or approved by, or connected with, MetroGuide. The predatory advertising places
HRN’s advertisements over The HotelGuide Network Website so as fo make it appear that The
HotelGuide Network Website generated the HRN advertisement.

66. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ acts have been and are being
committeel with the purpose and willful intent of misappropriating and trading upon

‘MetroGuide’s goodwill and reputation, and the goodwill and reputation associated with The
HotelGuide Network Website.

67. By its actions, Defendants have unfairly competed with, and continue to unfairly
compete with, MetroGuide in violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act of 1946, as amended,
15U.S.C. § 1125(a).

68. Defendants have engaged in this activity knowingly, willfully, with actual malice,
and in bad faith, so as to justify the assessment of treble damages against them.

69.  Defendants’ tortious actions have eaused MetroGuide to sustain monetary
damage, loss, and injury, in an amount to be determined at the time of trial.

70.  Defendants’ tortious actions has caused, and unless enjoined by this Court will
continue to cause, irreparable damage, loss and injury to MetroGuide for% which it has no
adequate remedy at law. "

71.  Diener is individually and personally liable for Defendants’ tortious actions
because Diener had the ability and right to supervise, direct, and control Defendants’ use of

predatory advertising and Defendants’ attempts to unfairly compete with MetroGuide.
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COUNT IV 7
False Designation of Origin and Unfair Competition
Under Federal Law, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)
Liability Of Defendants For Utilizing Link Farms
(All Defendants)

72.  MeiroGuide repeats paragraphs 1 through 45 in support of this count.

73.  This cause of action arises under Section 1125 of Title 15 of the United States
Code.

74.  Defendants’ use of link farms including hyperlinks to The HotelGuide Network
Website creates a likelihood that a false and unfair association will be made between HRN’s
services and MetroGuide’s services Because such use is likely to mislead Internet search engines,
and ultimately consumers and potential consumers, into believing that HRN’s services are the
same as MetroGuide’s services, or that HRN’s services are in some way affiliate with,
sponsored, authorized, approved, or sanctioned by MetroGuide.

75.  Upon information and belief, Defendants” acts have been and are being
committed with the purpose and intent of misappropriating and trade upon the goodwill and
reputation associated with MetroGuide and its reputation for providing high quality content and
services.

76. By its actions, Defendants have unfairly competed with, and continue to unfairly
compete with, MetroGuide in violation of Section 43(a) of the La;nhamiAct of 1946, as amended,
15US.C. § 1125(a). b .%

77.  Defendants have engaged in this activity knowingly, willfully, with actual malice,

and in bad faith, so as to justify the assessment of treble damages against them.
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78.  Defendants’ tortious actions have caused Metrc;Guide fo sustain monetary
damage, loss, and injury, in an amount to be determined at the time of trial.

79.  Defendants’ tortious actions has caused, and unless enjoined by this Court will
continue to cause, irreparable damage, loss and injury to MetroGuide for which it has no
adequate remedy at law.

80. Diener is individually and personally liable for Defendants’ tortious actions
involving the use of link farms because upon information and belief Diener had the ability and
right to supervise, direct, and control HRN’s tortious actions.

COUNT V
Unfair Competition Under Florida Common Law
Liability Of Defendants For Utilizing Predatory Advertising
(All Defendants)

81.  MetroGuide repeats paragraphs 1 through 45 in support of this count.

82.  Defendants’ use of predatory advertising constitutes unfair competition under the
laws of Floridarbecause such use is likely to mislead consumers and poténtial consumers into
believing that IRN’s services are the same as MetroGuide’s services, or that HRN’s services are
in some way affiliated with, sponsored, authorized, approved, or sanctioned by MetroGuide.

83.  Defendants’ use of predatory advertising constituﬁes unfair competition under the
laws of Florida because HRN has used MetroGuide’s .reputation and goodwill to offer HRN’s
services which are not sponsored or approved by, or conmected withgyM%troGuide.

84.  Defendants have engaged in this activity knowingly, willfully, with actual malice,

and in bad faith so as to justify the assessment of increased, exemplary and punitive damages

against them, in an amount to be determined at trial.
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85. Defendants’ tortious actions have caused MetroGuide to sustain monetary
damage, loss, and injury, in an amount to be determined at the time df trial.

86.  Defendants’ tortious actions have caused, and unless enjoined by this Court will
continue to cause, irreparable damage, loss, and injury to MetroGuide for Whic.h it has no
adequate remedy at law,

87. Diener is individually liable for Defendants’ tortious actions because upon
information and belief Diener had the ability and right to supervise, direct, and control
Defendants’ tortious actions.

COUNT VI
Unfair Competition Under Florida Common Law
Liability Of Defendants For Utilizing Link Farms
(All Defendants)

88.  MetroGuide repeats paragraphs 1 through 45 in support of this count. -

89.  Defendants’ use of link farms including hyperlinks to The HotelGuide Network
Website constitutes unfair competition under the laws of Florida because such use is likely to
mislead consumers and potential consumers into believing that HRN’S services are the same as
MetroGuide’s services, or that HRN’s services are in some way affiliated with, sponsored,
authorized, approved, or sanctions by MetroGuide.

00. Defendants’ use of link farms including hyperlinks to The HotelGuide Network
Website constitutes unfair competition under the laws of Florida pfcﬁuse such use is likely to

confuse Internet search engines that consumers and potential consumers will use to locate on-line

services such as MetroGuide’s and HRIN’s services.
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o1. Defendants have engaged in this activity knowingly, willfully, with actual malice,
and in bad faith so as to justify the assessment of increased, exemplary and punitive damages
against them, in an-amount to be determined at trial.

92.  Defendants’ tortious actions have caused MetroGuide to suetain monetary
damage, loss, and injury, in an amount to be determined at the time of trial.

93,  Defendants’ tortious actions have ceused, and unless enjoined by this Court will
continue to cause, irreparable damage, loss, and injury to MetroGuide for which it has no
adequate remedy at law.

94. Diener is individually liable for Defendants’ tortious actions because upon
information and belief Diener had the ability and right to supervise, direct, and control
Defendants’ tortious actions.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, MetroGuide prays for an Order and Judgment:

A, That HRN, its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and those

persons in active concert or participation with them, who receive actual notice of the Order by

personal service or otherwise, be preliminarily enjoined and restrained from:

1. Reproduciﬁg or copying The HotelGuide Network Website, or any
portions thercof, or otherwise engaging in acts that co:lstimte copyright
infringement under the copyright laws of the United States and wliich would
damage or injure MetroGuide;

2. Continuing to use content from The HotelGuide Network Website,

including without limitation all derivative works created from or which otherwise

incorporete content from The HotelGuide Network Website;
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3. Utilizing content from The HotelGuide Network Website to
unfairly compete with MetroGuide; and

4, Inducing, encouraging, instigating; aiding, abetting, or contributing
to any of the aforesaid acts.

5. Inducing, encouraging, instigating, aiding, abetting, or assisting
others in engaging in the aforesaid acts. |
B. That HRN, its officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and those

persons in active concert or participation with them, who receive actual notice of the Order by
personal service or otherwise, be permanently enjoined and restrained from:

1. . Reproducing or copying The HotelGuide Network Website, or any
portions thereof, or otherwise engaging in acts that constitute copynght -
infringement under the copyright laws of the United States' and which would -
damage or injure MetroGuide;

2. Continuing to use content from The HotelGuide Network Website,
including without limitation all derivative works created from or which otherwise
incorporate content from The HotelGuide Network Website;

3. Utilizing content from The HotelGuide Network Website to

unfairly compete with MetroGuide; and &
%

4. Inducing, encouraging, instigating, aiding, abetting, or contributing
to any of the aforesaid acts.
5. Inducing, encouraging, instigating, aiding, abetting, or assisting

others in engaging in the aforesaid acts.
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C. That in accordance with 17 U.S.C. §§ 504 and 505, HRN and Diener, jointly and

severally, be ordered to: |
1. Account for and pay over to MetroGuide an amount equal to

MetroGuide’s actual damages and all of the gains, profits, savings, and

advantages realized by Defendants as a result of Defendants’ infringement of the

MetroGuide Copyrights and the HRN Affiliates” infringement of the MetroGuide

Copyrights;

2. Pay MetroGuide statutory damages for each of Defendants’
infringements of the MetroGuide Copyrights;
3. Pay MetroGuide statutory damages for each violation committed

by an HRN Affiliate where HRN and/or Diener actively encouraged the HRN

Afﬁﬁate to infringe the MetroGuide Copyrights,” and for each violation

committed by an HRN Affiliate where HRN and/or Diener are vicariously liable

for the infringement of the MetroGuide Copyrights;

4, Reimburse MetroGuide for the costs of thi.s action; and
5. Reimburse MetroGuide for any and all reasonable attorney’s fees
incurred as a result of the infringement of the MetroGuide Copyrights.

D. That HRN, its officers, agents, servants, employees, aa.nd attorneys, and those
persons in active concert or participation with them, who receive a\itctual notize of the Order by
personal service or otherwise, be preliminarily and permanently enjoined and restrained from:

1. Making any false designation of origin, description, representation

or suggestion that HRN is the source or sponsor of MetroGuide, its web sites, or
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its services, and from othérwise competing unfairly with MetroGuide in any
manner;

2. Acting in any manner which causes HRN’s services or website to
be in any way confused with MeiroGuide and/or the MetroGuide’s services, or
The HotelGuide Network Website;

3. Acting, or causing Ianother entity to act, in any manner likely to
dilute, tarnish, .impair or blur the distinctiveness of MetroGuide’s service marks or
the good will associated with its Websites;

4. Infringing in any manner or causing any other entity to infringe in
any manner upon MetroGuide’s service marks, services or Websites, or otherwise
comp et,ing unfairly with MetroGuide in any manner; and

5. Misappropriating or otherwise unfairly trading upon the goodwill
of MetroGuide, its service marks, services or Websites.

E. That in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 1117, HRN and Diener, jointly and
- severally, be ordered to:

1. Account for and pay over to MetroGuide an amount equal to
MetroGuide’s actual damages, and all of the gains, profits, savings, and
advantages realized by Defendants’ as a result of the ])iefenda;r_its’ unfair
competition, and if Defendants’ actions are déemed to be w\ﬁlﬁ.ﬂ and i;tentional,
then such amount should be increased to an amount not exceeding three times of

such amount;

i 2. Reimburse MetroGuide for the costs of this action; and
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3. Reimburse MetroGuide for any and all reasonable attorney’s fees
incurred as a result of Defendants’ unfair competition.
F. That under Florida common law, HRN and Diener, be ordered, jointly and
severally, to pay actual and punitive damages, upon a proper showing, together with the costs of

this action.

Dated: January 27, 2003.
Respectfully submitted,

FELDMAN, GALE & WEBER, P.A.
Attorneys for MetroGuide

Miami Center, 19th Floor

201 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131-4332
Telephone: 305-358-5001

Telefax: 305-358-3309

Yaffds A. Gale &

Florida Bar No. 371726

E-Mail: jgale@FGWLaw.com
Samuel A. Lewis

Florida Bar No. 55360

E-Mail: slewis@FGWLaw.com
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